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SEMNAR & HARTMAN, LLP 
Babak Semnar (SBN 224890) 
bob@temeculaconsumerattorneys.com 
Jared Hartman (SBN 254860) 
jared@sandiegoconsumerattorneys.com 
41707 Winchester Road, Suite 201 
Temecula, CA 92590 
Telephone: (951) 293-4187; Fax: (888) 819-8230 
 
Attorneys for PLAINTIFF, WILLIAM J. BROWN 

 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

WILLIAM J. BROWN, an individual,  
  PLAINTIFF, 

 vs. 

 
CHECKR, INC.;  
  Defendants. 

 Case No.:   
 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF:  
 

1. 15 U.S.C. § 1681e; 
2. 15 U.S.C. § 1681k 

 

TO THE CLERK OF THE COURT, ALL PARTIES, AND THE HONORABLE 
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE:   
 

PLAINTIFF, WILLIAM J. BROWN (hereinafter, “PLAINTIFF”), an individual, 

by and through his attorneys of record, hereby complains and alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. PLAINTIFF, by and through his attorneys, brings this Complaint against 

Defendant CHECKR, INC. (hereinafter “CHECKR”) for failing to ensure maximum 

possible accuracy of the information about PLAINTIFF, the consumer to whom the 

information pertained, when it published a consumer report to a third party, and for 

failing to conduct a reasonable re-investigation into disputed information, as required 

by the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1682-1681x) (“FCRA”). 

2. The FCRA was enacted “to insure that consumer reporting agencies 
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exercise their grave responsibilities with fairness, impartiality, and a respect for the 

consumer’s right to privacy,” 15 U.S.C. § 1681(a)(4), by operating “in a manner which 

is fair and equitable to the consumer, with regard to the confidentiality, accuracy, 

relevancy” of the consumer information they disseminate.  15 U.S.C. § 1681(b).  

Congress included in the statutory scheme a series of protections that impose strict 

procedural rules on consumer reporting agencies such as CHECKR. This action 

involves CHECKR’S violation of several of those important rules.   

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

3. This action arises out of Defendant CHECKR’S violations of the FCRA, 

over which the U.S. District Court has original subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 15 U.S.C. § 1681p. 

4. Because Defendant CHECKR regularly conduct business within the 

County of San Diego, State of California, personal jurisdiction is established. 

5. Because all tortious conduct occurred while PLAINTIFF has maintained a 

residence in the City of San Diego, State of California, and a substantial portion of the 

events giving rise to this action occurred therein, venue properly lies in this court 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391. 

PARTIES & DEFINITIONS 

5. PLAINTIFF is a natural person who maintains a primary residence in the 

City of San Diego, State of California. 

6. CHECKR is registered as a Delaware corporation, but is headquartered in 

the City of San Francisco, State of California, and regularly and purposefully engages 

in business within the City of San Diego, State of California.  

7. PLAINTIFF is a natural person, and is therefore a “consumer” as that term 

is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(c) of the Federal FCRA. 

8. The causes of action herein partially pertains to PLAINTIFF’S “consumer 

credit reports”, as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1) of the Federal FCRA, 

in that inaccurate misrepresentations of PLAINTIFF’S background were made via 
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written, oral, or other communication of information by a consumer credit reporting 

agency, which is used or is expected to be used, or collected in whole or in part, for the 

purpose of serving as a factor in establishing PLAINTIFF’S eligibility for, among other 

things, employment purposes.  

9. Under the FCRA, “consumer reports” subject to the statute’s protections 

include not simply those used in establishing the consumer’s eligibility for credit, but 

also those used for “employment purposes.”  15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d)(1)(B). 

10. Defendant CHECKR is a partnership, corporation, association, or other 

entity, and is therefore a “person” as that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(b) of the 

Federal FCRA. 

11. At all times relevant hereto, CHECKR has been a “consumer reporting 

agency” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1681a(f) and has regularly prepared consumer reports 

for sale to potential employers for employment purposes. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

12. In September of 2021, PLAINTIFF applied for a position as driver with 

both Lyft and Uber within the County of San Diego, State of California. 

13. PLAINTIFF was notified by Lyft that he could expect to receive an hourly 

rate of up to $42.00 per hour, with a guarantee of $3,000.00 within his first month of 

employment as a driver, and that he would receive a health insurance subsidy of $600 

per quarter if he logs an average of 15 hrs per week or $1200 per quarter if he logs an 

average of 25 hrs per week. 

14. In connection with PLAINTIFF’S September 2021 job applications with 

Lyft and Uber, two criminal background checks were conducted by CHECKR. 

15. Defendant CHECKR published one report to Lyft on September 9, 2021 

and another report to Uber on September 24, 2021. 

16. Both reports have reported PLAINTIFF as having a felony assault 

conviction from the Marion Common Pleas Court for the County of Marion, State of 

Ohio, from the year 2001 under Case Number 2001CR0138. 
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17. However, the Court file clearly shows that PLAINTIFF was only initially 

charged with a felony assault, but that he was convicted of a reduced charge and that 

the reduced charge of which he was convicted was a misdemeanor assault. 

18. Attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A is a true and correct 

copy of the Entry of Guilty Plea form dated July 24, 2001 showing that PLAINTIFF 

was only convicted of a misdemeanor assault and was not convicted of any felonies at 

all under Case Number 2001CR0138. 

19. Attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B is a true and correct 

copy of the Judgment Entry of Sentencing form dated July 30, 2001 showing that 

PLAINTIFF was only convicted of a misdemeanor assault and was not convicted of any 

felonies at all under Case Number 2001CR0138. 

20. Attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit C is a true and correct 

copy of the Work Release Program form dated October 19, 2001 showing that 

PLAINTIFF was only convicted of a misdemeanor assault and was not convicted of any 

felonies at all under Case Number 2001CR0138. 

21. PLAINTIFF first discovered Defendant CHECKR’S false reporting of this 

information on or about September 9, 2021 when he received an adverse action notice 

from Lyft. 

22. On or about September 9, 2021, PLAINTIFF received a copy of the report 

from Lyft that Defendant CHECKR provided to Lyft. 

23. This report does not contain the address for the entity to whom Defendant 

CHECKR provided the report. 

24. Additionally, upon information and belief, Defendant CHECKR did not 

verify the accuracy of its records before selling them to PLAINTIFF’s prospective 

employers, Lyft or Uber, because a reasonable verification would have clearly shown 

that PLAINTIFF had never been convicted of any felonies. 

25. A simple review of the court file shows that the only charges to which 

PLAINTIFF pled guilty were misdemeanors. 
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26. It is clear, then, that Defendant CHECKR failed to actually review the 

documents that form the basis for PLAINTIFF’s prior criminal conviction and/or failed 

to properly train its employees as to how to review and understand such court 

documents, either of which is not a reasonable procedure because a reasonably prudent 

person would have most certainly reviewed the court documents identified above—the 

plea form and the Judgment Entry of Sentencing form from the court file—and any 

reasonably prudent person would train its employees on how to read and understand 

such court documents. 

27. Consequently, any claim by Defendant CHECKR that PLAINTIFF was 

convicted of a felony is undeniably false, without any factual justification, and serves as 

a basis for finding that Defendant CHECKR maintains flawed procedures that allow for 

a reckless disregard of the true facts that exist within readily-accessible court 

documents, as provided herein. 

28. Upon receiving this false information on or about September 9, 2021, 

PLAINTIFF submitted a dispute to CHECKR that specifically notified CHECKR of the 

exact information he was disputing and specifically notified CHECKR that he had 

never been convicted of any felonies. 

29. CHECKR sent to PLAINTIFF a generic auto-reply that confirmed it had 

received PLAINTIFF’S dispute and claimed that it would complete a reinvestigation 

within 30 days. 

30. Attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit D is a true and correct 

copy of the auto-reply that confirmed CHECKR had received PLAINTIFF’S September 

9, 2021 dispute and claimed that it would complete a reinvestigation within 30 days. 

31. Despite this dispute being submitted to CHECKR on September 9, 2021, 

CHECKR then proceeded to publish and sell a new report to Uber on September 24, 

2021 that contained the exact same false information about PLAINTIFF being 

convicted of a felony assault from the Marion Common Pleas Court for the County of 

Marion, State of Ohio, from the year 2001 under Case Number 2001CR0138. 
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32. On or about September 24, 2021, PLAINTIFF received a copy of this 

report from Uber that Defendant CHECKR had provided to Uber. 

33. This report also does not contain the address for the entity to whom 

Defendant CHECKR provided the report. 

34. PLAINTIFF once again submitted a dispute to CHECKR that specifically 

notified CHECKR of the exact information he was disputing and specifically notified 

CHECKR that he had never been convicted of any felonies. 

35. CHECKR sent to PLAINTIFF another generic auto-reply that confirmed it 

had received PLAINTIFF’S dispute and claimed that it would complete a 

reinvestigation within 30 days. 

36. Attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit E is a true and correct 

copy of the auto-reply that confirmed CHECKR had received PLAINTIFF’S September 

24, 2021 dispute and claimed that it would complete a reinvestigation within 30 days. 

37. On September 19, 2021, PLAINTIFF was notified by Lyft that he had been 

outrightly rejected as a driver. 

38. The reason PLAINTIFF was outrightly rejected as a driver by Lyft is 

because Lyft automatically rejects any applicant with any felony conviction for a crime 

of violence no matter the age of the conviction. 

39. If CHECKR had accurately reported the conviction as a misdemeanor, then 

the age of the conviction (nearly 20 years old) would have been far outside of the 7 year 

time limitation for consideration of misdemeanor convictions, which in turn means 

PLAINTIFF would not have been rejected by Lyft. 

40. As a direct result, PLAINTIFF has suffered embarrassment, shame, and 

humiliation as well as loss of income and benefits.  

41. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 168e(b), Defendant CHECKR has always been 

required to “follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the 

information concerning the individual about whom the report relates”, which, in this 

case, is PLAINTIFF. 
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42. Furthermore, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681k(a)(2), Defendant CHECKR 

has been required to “maintain strict procedures designed to insure that whenever public 

record information which is likely to have an adverse effect on a consumer’s ability to 

obtain employment is reported it is complete and up to date”.   

43. Upon information and belief, Defendant CHECKR is well aware of its 

obligations under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681e and 1681k in that CHECKR has been sued more 

dozens times, and is aware of regulatory guidance specifically addressing these 

obligations such as the Federal Trade Commission’s recent publication What 

Employment Background Screening Companies Need to Know About the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (May 10, 2016).  

44. For example, CHECKR has been the recipient of public criticism for its 

significantly flawed procedures resulting in numerous erroneous background checks 

that have resulted in numerous people being deprived of employment opportunities that 

they otherwise would have received.  Attached as Exhibits F, G, and H are true and 

correct copies of news and investigative journalist articles addressing this very problem 

by CHECKR. 

45. Upon information and belief, CHECKR has long been aware that public 

record information in its databases is inaccurate, unreliable, and out of date; and that it 

is necessary to verify the accuracy and completeness of such information prior to 

reporting it to a consumer’s prospective employer to avoid the unjustifiable risk that 

inaccurate, unreliable, or out of date public record information in its databases unjustly 

causes a consumer to lose employment opportunities or otherwise suffer reputational 

harm and mental distress.  

46. Upon information and belief, CHECKR inaccurately reported that 

PLAINTIFF had been convicted of a felony assault to two of PLAINTIFF’S 

prospective employers as a result of its negligent and/or willful failures to ensure the 

information was complete and up to date (e.g., failing to regularly update public records 

or verify public records with the source prior to reporting) and/or because CHECKR 
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does not properly train and supervise those with whom it tasks with collecting public 

record information and/or preparing consumer reports containing the same (e.g., failing 

to train agents to understand the public record information they review and report).  

47. Upon information and belief, CHECKR inaccurately reported that 

PLAINTIFF had been convicted of a felony assault to PLAINTIFF’S prospective 

employer(s) as the result of its negligent and/or willful failures to ensure the 

information was complete and up to date (e.g., failing to regularly update public records 

or verify public records with the source prior to reporting) and/or because CHECKR 

does not properly train or inform its agents of the consequential significance of their 

investigation, finding, and ultimately conclusions as it relates to consumers such as 

PLAINTIFF.   

48. If CHECKR maintained reasonable and/or strict procedures to assure 

maximum possible accuracy of the public record information contained in 

PLAINTIFF’s consumer report issued for employment purposes, had properly trained 

its agents to understand such public records, had properly explained the consequential 

significance of their role in providing information about consumers, and/or properly 

verified or updated public record information before reporting it, then PLAINTIFF’S 

consumer report would not have contained the false information because, as stated 

above, the official documents within the court file clearly shows that the only charges to 

which PLAINTIFF pled guilty were misdemeanors.   

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
FEDERAL FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT 

15 U.S.C. §1681e 
 

49. PLAINTIFF repeats, re-alleges, and incorporates by reference all other 

paragraphs, as if fully set forth herein. 

50. 15 U.S.C. §1681n expressly creates civil liability under the FCRA for 

willful noncompliance with any requirement imposed by the FCRA with respect to any 

consumer.  
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51. 15 U.S.C. §1681o expressly creates civil liability under the FCRA for 

negligent noncompliance with any requirement imposed by the FCRA with respect to 

any consumer. 

52. Defendant CHECKR negligently and/or willfully failed to maintain and 

follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy concerning the 

consumer to whom the information pertained when preparing and selling the Consumer 

Report in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) by, inter alia:  

a. Failing to regularly monitor and update public record information in its 

database;  

b. Failing to verify public record information with the source;  

c. Failing to properly train or supervise its employees responsible for 

obtaining, monitoring, updating, or reporting public record information; 

and/or,  

d. Such additional lapses in this duty of care as are revealed in discovery.  

53. As a direct and proximate result, PLAINTIFF has suffered pecuniary and 

non-pecuniary harms, including lost wages, loss of benefits, reputational harm, 

embarrassment, frustration, and other forms of emotional distress that naturally arose 

therefrom.  

54. PLAINTIFF is entitled to actual or statutory damages, punitive damages, 

costs, and his reasonable attorneys’ fees in an amount to be proved at trial. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
FEDERAL FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT 

15 U.S.C. §1681k 
 

55. PLAINTIFF repeats, re-alleges, and incorporates by reference all other 

paragraphs, as if fully set forth herein. 

56. Twice in September 2021, Defendant CHECKR prepared a consumer 

report and sold it to a potential employer, for employment purposes, but without 

providing a contemporaneous notice to PLAINTIFF along with a notice of the name 
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and address to whom it provided the report. 

57. As a result, CHECKR knew or should have known that its preparation and 

sale of the Consumer Report was subject to the heightened standard of 15 U.S.C. § 

1681k requiring CHECKR to maintain strict procedures designed to ensure that public 

record information in the Consumer Report was complete and up to date.  

58. Nonetheless, CHECKR negligently or willfully failed to maintain strict 

procedures designed to ensure that public record information in the Consumer Report 

was complete and up to date in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681k by, inter alia: 

a. Failing to regularly monitor and update public record information in its 

database;  

b. Failing to verify public record information with the source;  

c. Failing to properly train or supervise its employees responsible for 

obtaining, monitoring, updating, or reporting public record information; 

and/or,  

d. Such additional lapses in this duty of care as are revealed in discovery.  

59. As a direct and proximate result, PLAINTIFF has suffered pecuniary and 

non-pecuniary harms, including lost wages, reputational harm, embarrassment, 

frustration, and other forms of emotional distress that naturally arose therefrom.  

60. PLAINTIFF is entitled to actual or statutory damages, punitive damages, 

costs, and his reasonable attorneys’ fees in an amount to be proved at trial.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF prays that judgment be entered against Defendant, 

and PLAINTIFF be awarded damages as follows: 

1. Actual damages, subject to proof at trial; 

2. Plus statutory damages of $1,000.00 for each individual willful violation of 

the Federal FCRA, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(1)(A); 

3. Plus punitive damages in an amount to be determined by a jury for willful 

violations of the Federal FCRA, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1681n(a)(2); 
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4. Any reasonable attorney’s fees and costs to maintain the instant action. 

TRIAL BY JURY 

Pursuant to the Seventh Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of 

America, PLAINTIFF is entitled to, and demands, a trial by jury.  

     
 
DATED: 10-6-21    /s/ Jared M. Hartman  

    Jared M. Hartman, Esq. 
    Semnar & Hartman, LLP 
    41707 Winchester Road, Suite 201 
    Temecula, CA 92590 
    PH: 951-293-4187 

Jared@SanDiegoConsumerAttorneys.com 
    Attorneys for PLAINTIFF 
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From: "Support (Checkr)" <support@checkr.com> 
Date: Sep 24, 2021 1:05 PM 
Subject: Checkr Reinvestigation Request 
To: William Joseph Brown <williamb287@yahoo.com> 
Cc: 
 
 
##- Please type your reply above this line -## 

 
William Joseph Brown 
Sep 24, 2021, 13:05 PDT 

Checkr Reinvestigation Request 

Hi William, 

This email is to notify you that we have received your reinvestigation request 
regarding: 

Screening disputed: County Searches 

Reason: Inaccurate/Incomplete Information 

Case number: 2001 CR 0138 
Charge: ASSAULT 
Location: MARION, OH 
Charge: DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 
Location: MARION, OH 

Fields: Charge Type 

Explanation: I was not convicted of a felony assault. I was convicted of a misdemeanor 
assault. 

Your request and any information provided will be reviewed and if applicable, we will 
place a hold on your background check report. Both you and the company you applied 
with will receive an email confirming that you are disputing information on your 
background check report. This will also notify the company to hold any final 
engagement decisions until the reinvestigation is complete. Once the reinvestigation is 
complete, both you and the company you applied with will be notified by email. 
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It is our goal to complete any reinvestigation as soon as possible, however the 
reinvestigation process can last for up to 30 days. We will provide updates by email 
and notify you as soon as we have completed the reinvestigation. 

A copy of your report is attached to this email. If there is additional information on 
your report that you believe is inaccurate, please respond directly to this email with 
additional details. Otherwise, you have confirmed that the rest of the information on 
your report is accurate and complete. 

Thank you, 
Checkr, Inc. 

Attachment(s) 
report20210924-1-7y77u2.pdf 

 

 

Case 3:21-cv-01737-L-DEB   Document 1-6   Filed 10/06/21   PageID.29   Page 3 of 3

https://help.checkr.com/attachments/token/oFBgURLcuoT8CscpRMqzePLEr/?name=report20210924-1-7y77u2.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT F 

Case 3:21-cv-01737-L-DEB   Document 1-7   Filed 10/06/21   PageID.30   Page 1 of 8



10/6/21, 8:48 AM Background checks for gig workers now feature AI - Vox

https://www.vox.com/recode/2020/5/11/21166291/artificial-intelligence-ai-background-check-checkr-fama 1/7

James Bareham for Vox/Recode

Beware of these futuristic

background checks
Tons of people are looking for work. AI-powered background checks could stand
in the way.
By Rebecca Heilweil  May 11, 2020, 7:00am EDT
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Unemployment in May reached its highest levels since the Great Depression, but
companies like Postmates and Uber have continued to hire new workers during the
pandemic. If you’re interested in this kind of gig, however, there’s a good chance you’ll
need to pass an AI-powered background check from a company like Checkr. This might
not be as easy as it sounds.

Checkr is on the forefront of a new and potentially problematic kind of hiring, one that’s
powered by still-emerging technology. Those hoping to quickly get extra work complain
that Checkr and others using AI to do background checks aren’t addressing errors and
mistakes on their criminal records reports. In these cases, a glitch in the system can
cost someone a job.

But this isn’t exactly a new problem. In recent years, Checkr has faced a slew of lawsuits
for making mistakes that have cost people much-desired opportunities to work,
according to legal records. One complaint from a man hoping to drive for Uber alleged
that he was wrongly linked to a murder conviction that actually belonged to someone
with a similar name. Another person hoping to work for the ride-share giant
complained that he was erroneously reported to have committed several misdemeanors
— including the possession of a controlled substance — crimes that belonged to another
person with the same name.

Checkr is one of many companies automating aspects of the hiring process and cutting
down on costs. Some of these companies are using artificial intelligence to scan through
resumes, analyze facial expressions during video job interviews, compare criminal
records, and even judge applicants’ social media behavior. And in a pandemic, where
the companies still hiring are likely already seeing a surge in applications and eager to
find ways to streamline the recruiting process, technology that makes hiring quicker
and easier sounds appealing.

But experts have expressed skepticism about the role that AI can actually play in hiring.
The technology doesn’t always work and can exacerbate bias and privacy problems.
Inevitably, it also raises bigger questions of how powerful AI should become.

AI can help companies study your criminal record

When you’re being considered for a job, background check companies typically use
personal information, provided by you, to learn more about your criminal record and
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other information about your identity. That can involve collating all types of data,
including but not limited to information from sex offender registries, global watch lists,
state criminal records databases, and the Public Access to Court Electronic Records
(PACER) system. Sometimes, a background check provider will need to consult a
courthouse to search for more records, a process that might not be possible right now
due to pandemic-required closures.

In recent years, using artificial intelligence to speed up the process of analyzing these
records has been pioneered by Checkr, though other startups, like UK-based Onfido and
Israeli-based Intelligo, have worked or are working on similar systems. Meanwhile,
more traditional background check companies are also making use of AI. GoodHire, for
instance, has used machine learning to verify the identity of people completing an
online background check.

Checkr has become a favorite of gig economy firms, including Uber, Instacart, Shipt,
Postmates, and Ly�. On its website, Checkr argues that AI can ultimately drive down the
cost of bringing on a new hire by helping process background-checks in two ways. First,
the technology helps verify that a given criminal record belongs to the person whose
background is being checked. Second, the AI assists in comparing the names of
criminal charges that have different names in different places. What might be reported
as “petty the�” in one locale could be reported as “petit larceny” somewhere else.

But as lawsuits against Checkr suggest, these services can make mistakes, even with the
use of AI. Many of these complaints allege that the company matched people to criminal
records belonging to others with the same or similar names.

RELATED

Artificial intelligence will help determine if you get your next job

“The threshold question is, did we even match the right person,” explains Aaron Rieke,
the managing director of the digital rights group Upturn. “If you have a common name,
that’s a non-trivial thing to do, and the last 20 years are rife with database matching
problems just at that very basic level.”
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Other complaints against Checkr say out-of-context or outdated records also end up
getting included in their reports.

Checkr did not comment on the lawsuits specifically, but Kristen Faris, the company’s
industry strategy vice president, told Recode that humans are involved in both the
review and quality assurance process to ensure the accuracy of the reports.

“In the traditional world, where you’re using offshore labor to apply this criteria, you
have a much lower accuracy rate just because of the manual processes involved,” Faris
said.

AI can also screen your social media and anything else that’s public on the web

Most background checks tend to focus on criminal records, but some services have
started to include information about a person that’s available online, including their
social media presence. Some managers already look up social media activity of
prospective hires, but companies like Good Egg sell social media background checks,
while others like Intelligo can use AI to screen these platforms.

“I think when people use their real name in public fora online, the reality is that that
information could be sucked into a background check process,” Rieke, the digital rights
advocate, said.

This is what happened to Kai Moore earlier this year, when their employer switched
payroll systems and required employee background checks to be run again. Moore
expected a review of what’s typically included in this process: information about their
criminal records and confirmation of their identity. But what they didn’t expect was a
300-page report from Fama Technologies on their social media history, which included
documentation of their tweets, retweets, and “Likes.”

Even more worrisome was how their online activity was graded. A post Moore had
“Liked” with the phrase “Big Dick Energy” was flagged for “sexism” and “bigotry.” Tweets
they’d favorited about alcohol were flagged as “bad,” while one mentioning “hell” in
discussing LGBTQ identity and religion was flagged for “language.”

Moore’s employer assured them that their job was not at risk, but it also noted that
Fama’s algorithms had ultimately deemed them a “consider,” rather than an outright
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“clear,” for the position in which Moore had already been working. And to Moore, this
signified the absurdity and inaccuracy of artificial intelligence.

“I think it’s really dangerous to give these kinds of algorithms so much authority,” Moore
told Recode. “It’s such a terrible algorithm. It’s a keyword search.”

Fama founder and CEO Ben Mones told Recode that the company claims to be able to
identify problematic behavior, like sexism and bullying, as well as the risk that someone
might commit insider trading or intellectual property the�. Fama primarily analyzed
Twitter activity in Moore’s case, but the technology can also pick up information about
applicants from news sites and other webpages. Since Moore’s report was performed,
Fama has stopped labeling these posts as “good” or “bad.” Now, it simply flags content,
leaving employers to make their own judgments.

Fama isn’t the only company that’s attempted such a business model. Other companies
are looking for ways to report what prospective applicants share online, a process that
some background check companies say they can expedite with the help of AI. Faris, the
Checkr VP, said her company has talked about offering social media screenings but has
yet to see significant demand from its existing customer base.

It’s also unclear if social media companies themselves will tolerate this use of their data.
Predictim, a company that used AI to score potential babysitters based on their social
media, attracted enough negative attention back in 2018 that it was ultimately blocked
by Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter. Predictim’s website is no longer active.

Fama, for one, has found a way around some social media companies’ policies. Twitter
told Recode that it suspended Fama’s API access around the same time Moore’s story
about their background check went viral. Twitter said that its API policies ban the use of
the platform for “background checks or any form of extreme vetting,” as well as
“surveillance.” Fama maintains that it still has some form of access to Twitter data for its
services.

The use of artificial intelligence doesn’t mean your rights are forfeited

Background check companies are generally considered credit reporting agencies, and
there are state and federal laws that regulate how these agencies operate. Chief among
them is the Fair Credit Reporting Act, a law passed in 1970 to protect consumers that’s
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regulated by the Federal Trade Commission. Just last month, the agency shared best
practices for working with artificial intelligence and algorithms.

Currently, the Fair Credit Reporting Act law requires potential employers to inform and
get a person’s permission before running a background check. If the employer thinks
the results of the background check will factor into rejecting an applicant for a job, they
have to let the applicant know and give them a chance to contest any information in the
report. If that happens, the credit reporting agency enlisted by the employer has to
reinvestigate its findings. There is no guarantee, however, that any corrections will be
made in time for a person to remain in consideration for a particular position.

Background check companies can make significant errors, and those errors can impact
whether or not someone is ultimately offered a job. According to Ariel Nelson, an
attorney at the National Consumer Law Center, these firms do have a legal obligation to
have “reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information.”
There’s still a pervasive problem of mistakes being included in background checks,
Nelson explained, even when AI is not involved.

So when you find yourself applying for a new job, consider that your application could
be subject to an AI-powered background check, especially if you’re looking for work in
the gig economy. You do have control over some aspects of this process. You can make
your social media accounts private or delete your data from these platforms entirely.
Basically, if you can see information about you online while you’re not logged into a
platform, a future employer — or a hired AI — can probably see it, too.

Clarification: This post has been updated to clarify that Checkr has automated features,
but the service does not use AI to scan through resumes, analyze facial expressions
during video job interviews, or judge applicant’s social media behavior.

Open Sourced is made possible by the Omidyar Network. All Open Sourced content is
editorially independent and produced by our journalists.

Will you support Vox’s explanatory journalism?
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Since 2015, Checkr has faced some 80 lawsuits under FCRA. Roughly half of those have been filed in the last year. |
Illustration: erhui1979 via Getty Images
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Locked out of the gig economy: When
background checks get it wrong
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In a flurry of lawsuits, drivers say Checkr cost them their livelihoods.

By Issie Lapowsky

Checkr, the background check engine powering much of the gig economy, is

usually in the news for one of two reasons: Either it's raised a whole bunch of

money — the startup is now valued at $2.2 billion — or it's cleared an Uber driver

who goes on to assault his passengers.

But the tech industry darling, which spun out of Y Combinator in 2014 and now

processes 1.5 million background checks every month for the likes of Uber and

Lyft, has an equal and opposite problem on its hands: a growing number of

lawsuits accusing Checkr of churning out erroneous background checks that

allegedly cost innocent people their livelihoods.

Get what matters in tech, in your inbox every morning. Sign up for Source

Code.

Take Amy Rae. In November 2017, she was double parked outside her 10-year-

old's school waiting to drop o� the football jersey he was supposed to wear in a

photo shoot for the local paper. Before Rae could complete the hando�, she says

a police o�cer spotted her and told her to move. When Rae protested, he asked

for her license. Rae reached for her purse and realized she'd left her wallet at

home in her rush to get out the door. According to her driving record, the o�cer

wrote her a ticket for failure to have a license in her possession. Rae paid the

fine and moved on with her life.

| February 7, 2020
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That is, until four months later when Rae, a full-time o�ce manager who drives

for Uber part time, opened her app one night and found that her account had

been blocked due to some issue with her background check. It turned out that

rather than telling Uber that Rae didn't have her license in her possession, a

minor violation, Checkr reported she was driving with no license at all. It was

one little mistake, but more than two years later, Rae is still trying to wind her

way out of the Ka�aesque maze she stepped into that day in November.

Over the years, Rae says she has been repeatedly suspended from Uber over her

background check, only to be reinstated and suspended again. Rae says she was

making hundreds of dollars a week as an Uber driver, income that disappeared

when she was suspended. Even though it's only a part-time job, Rae says that as

a 37-year-old single mother of two with one kid in college, she's felt the pinch.

"This could literally destroy someone's life," Rae says. So, late last year, she

started Googling the company. "I was like, 'There have to be people who sue

them for this.'"

Rae was right. Since 2015, Checkr has faced some 80 lawsuits under the Fair

Credit Reporting Act, which regulates both credit reports and background

checks. Rae filed one in 2018. Roughly half of those suits have been filed in the

last year alone. In court documents, the plainti�s have accused Checkr of a wide

range of wrongdoings, from mistaking them with other people to misreporting

their o�enses to including past criminal activity that is too old to report under

the law. One class action suit filed in November 2019 concerns Jose Montanez,
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who was famously exonerated after serving more than 20 years in prison for a

murder he didn't commit. When he got out and applied to work for Uber, the

case alleges, he was denied because Checkr's report included a murder

conviction.

These cases, some of which have been dismissed or ended in confidential

settlements, represent only a fraction of the complaints about Checkr flooding

Twitter and online review sites, like the Better Business Bureau. Time and

again, people report getting the same runaround.

"Checkr blames Uber. Uber blames Checkr, and who su�ers?" says Alexis

Lehmann, an attorney with the Philadelphia-based firm Francis Mailman

Soumilas, which has represented dozens of consumers in these cases. "The

drivers can't get anywhere."

Uber declined to comment for this story. Checkr also declined Protocol's

requests for an interview. But in a statement, a spokesperson said, "We

understand that candidates are people whose lives are a�ected by the results we

deliver, so we're committed to the highest standards of accuracy and fairness in

our reporting."

Checkr, of course, is not the only background check company in the world or

even in the gig economy. And it's not the first to face these kinds of suits. Its

competitors like Hireright and Sterling Talent Solutions have faced similar

accusations. Some law firms exist for the explicit purpose of suing consumer

reporting agencies. According to Eric Ellman, senior vice president for public

policy at the Consumer Data Industry Association, these types of lawsuits are

growing across the industry. "There's been a steady rise over the years in FCRA

litigation in part because there's a low barrier to sue and a high potential payo�

at the end," he says.

The prevalence of these suits is partly a product

of Checkr's success.
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But Checkr has pitched itself as a di�erent kind of background check company,

one that's fairer, more accurate, and worthy of Silicon Valley venture capitalists'

millions. Over the last few years, Checkr has become an increasingly popular

target for these suits thanks to the explosive growth of the gig economy, the fact

that Checkr serves so many of the gig economy's biggest players, and growing

pressure on companies like Uber to enhance security with more-frequent

background checks.

In other words, the prevalence of these suits is partly a product of Checkr's

success. The company prides itself on using automation to speed up the

historically manual background check process. It stands to reason that the more

reports Checkr runs, the more errors it might produce.

In an interview with angel investor Jason Calacanis last fall, Checkr's CEO

Daniel Yanisse stressed the importance of getting things right. "It's not just a

transaction. It's human lives we're touching and real people we're sharing

information about," he said in the interview.

But lawyers in these cases argue that Checkr isn't living up to its commitment,

failing to put in place adequate systems to correct issues in a timely or

permanent fashion, which can have disastrous financial repercussions for

people.

Jerome Miller, a 69-year-old Army veteran who served in Korea and Vietnam,

had been driving for Uber in his hometown of Charleston, South Carolina, since

2014. In 2018, he upgraded his 2013 Dodge Avenger to a shiny new Lincoln MKT

so he could begin o�ering premium rides. "My customers loved it," he says.

Then, in January 2019, he, too, got an email from Checkr, stating that his license

had expired. Records from the Department of Motor Vehicles reviewed by

Protocol show that his license was, in fact, active. Miller contacted a

representative for Uber, who instructed him to contact Checkr. Even after he

contacted Checkr, Miller's lawyer says, it took about three months before the

company revised his record and he was able to drive for Uber again.
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During that time, Miller says he started falling behind on his car payments.

Eventually, he says, his new Lincoln was repossessed, so that even once his

account was reinstated, it would be impossible to recover what he'd lost. In June

of that year, Miller sought legal help from Francis Mailman Soumilas. That suit

was dismissed in September. Lehmann, Miller's attorney, says, "The matter has

been resolved."

In the case of Christopher Twumasi-Ankrah, a Ghanaian immigrant living in

Cleveland with his wife and 4-year-old daughter, Checkr's report wasn't so

much inaccurate as it lacked crucial details. Among the driving violations it

listed were two accidents: one, in which the police record shows Twumasi-

Ankrah was the victim of a hit-and-run, and another in which a court

determined Twumasi-Ankrah was not at fault. Uber suspended him for having

three or more tra�c violations or accidents, but Twumasi-Ankrah contends

those two should not have been counted. In January 2019, he sued Checkr for

violation of the FCRA.

Checkr filed a motion to dismiss Twumasi-Ankrah, arguing that the

information included in the reports was, in fact, accurate. A judge in the

Northern District of Ohio sided with the company. Now, Twumasi-Ankrah and

his lawyer, Sergei Lemberg, are appealing the decision.

Checkr declined to share internal figures about the accuracy of its reports. But

Ellman pointed to past legal cases involving LexisNexis, which also provides

background checks; that company reported that only 0.2% of its reports are ever

disputed. Another case, involving a background check company called General

Information Solutions, yielded similar results, showing that between 2013 and

2016, only 0.175% percent of records were disputed.

"The anecdotal allegations of high numbers of erroneous reports must be

assessed within the context of the many millions of consumer reports that are

generated each year," Ellman says. He notes that the law requires that credit

reporting agencies implement "reasonable procedures" to ensure accuracy.
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In his interview with Yanisse, Calacanis asked the founder how Checkr handles

inevitable errors in background checks. Yanisse explained that Checkr has an

online portal, where people can launch a dispute and work with Checkr's team

to fix their report. The law requires disputes to be resolved within 30 days

(Checkr's spokesperson says the company resolves them faster than that). "We

want everyone to be empowered to see their data to be able to control and fix it

if there's an issue," Yanisse said.

What Yanisse didn't mention is that in order to access that portal, people need

to check a box agreeing to Checkr's terms of service, which includes an

arbitration provision. Often, people agree to these terms before they've even

seen what's in their report. That's because the very first email Checkr sends out

notifying job applicants there's a problem includes a link to the portal, urging

them to click to find out more. Applicants can call Checkr to circumvent this

process and get their report directly, but court records and interviews indicate

many don't. If people access the portal, Checkr gives them 30 days to opt out of

the arbitration agreement, but that fact is buried at the bottom of the company's

terms of service. Often, applicants don't know they've opted in to such an

agreement to begin with.

In some cases, courts have upheld those agreements. But employment lawyers

say the law is still murky as to whether these arbitration agreements between

job applicants and Checkr, a third-party entity, are enforceable.

Under the law, job applicants are entitled to view their consumer reports,

including background checks. That's true whether they agree to Checkr's terms

of service or not, says Christopher McNerney, an associate at the employment

law firm Outten & Golden, which specializes in workplace discrimination. Once

an applicant has agreed to those terms, however, McNerney says there's still an

argument to be made that the contract isn't valid, because the applicant hasn't

received any benefit from the transaction.

"The company will say the benefit is the consumer report," McNerney says. "But

the company is legally and contractually obligated to provide that already."
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Still, McNerney says that argument is, in some ways, beside the point, since the

existence of an arbitration agreement can, in and of itself, have a chilling e�ect.

"These are sophisticated companies," he says, "and they understand whether or

not the arbitration agreement is enforceable, they get a certain benefit from the

deterrence e�ect of forcing people to sign this arbitration agreement, in hopes

that they'll then think, 'Well, I can't pursue my rights anymore.'"

That's if they know they have these rights at all. The nature of the gig economy,

particularly the rideshare economy, is such that many of the applicants for these

jobs don't have the resources to mount a legal defense. "You're talking about a

lot of immigrants, a lot of minorities," says Mark Mailman, managing

shareholder of Francis Mailman Soumilas. "You're definitely talking about

people who have been incarcerated, who have had previous run-ins with the

law, who have gotten out and now can get a job. They can be vulnerable people."

One irony of all of this is that, within its own company, Checkr is a rather

progressive employer, dedicated to hiring people who have been arrested or

incarcerated. In fact, according to the interview with Calacanis, 5% of the

company's workforce has a criminal background. "It's our mission to provide a

fairer future for people who have made a mistake in the past," Yanisse said in

the interview.

The question Rae, Miller, Twumasi-Ankrah and others are asking is whether

Checkr is doing enough to rectify its own mistakes, too.
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Daily News

Checkr settles alleged AI-error lawsuit for more than $4 million (New
Hampshire Union Leader)

March 04, 2019

The  the lack of human oversight of the
artificial intelligence used by background screening provider Checkr has resulted
in errors. More than 40 people have sued the background screening provider for
violating the Fair Credit Reporting Act in recent years and the company in December
settled a class-action lawsuit that alleged it illegally included information about low-
level offenses like traffic infractions on background checks for more than 96,000
people; Checkr agreed to pay out $4.46 million in damages plus attorneys’ fees.

 reportedNew Hampshire Union Leader
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